Case 2021AP002054 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-23-2022 Page 1 of 13

FILED
02-23-2022
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 2021AP002054

Appeal No. 2021AP002054
Waupaca County Case No. 2019CT000188

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff- Respondent,

v.

ROBIN D SMOLAREK,

Defendant- Appellant.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT- APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUPACA COUNTY THE HONORABLE TROY NIELSEN PRESIDING

JOHN MILLER CARROLL LAW OFFICE S.C. Attorney for Defendant – Appellant

> John Miller Carroll State Bar. No. 1010478

226 S. State St. Appleton WI 54911 (920) 734-4878

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the officer have probable cause to believe that the Defendant-Appellant was operating under the influence of an intoxicant?

The Circuit Court answered: Yes. Defendant-Appellant submits: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested. Publication is requested. The issues present questions of significance.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment entered in Waupaca County Circuit Court, the Honorable Troy L Nielsen presiding. The Defendant-Appellant, Robin Smolarek, was found Guilty of Operating with a Restricted Controlled Substance (3rd), contrary to Wis. Stats. §346.63(1)(am) (R71:1).

On, April 16, 2017, in the Town of Dayton, Wisconsin, a motor vehicle collision occurred and Smolarek was subsequently charged with the above offense two years later (R1:2).

On November 18th, 2020, the Defendant-Appellant filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Suppress Blood Test. A Motion Hearing was scheduled for December 3rd, 2020 but was rescheduled and held on February 24th, 2021 and the Court issued a Decision denying Smolarek's Motion to Suppress the Blood Draw (R40:27,28).

A Plea and Sentencing Hearing was held on November 23rd, 2021 and Smolarek pled no contest to Operating with a Restricted Controlled Substance (R47:1).

STATEMENT OF THE RELEVANT FACTS

A. The Accident

Smolarek was involved in a motor vehicle collision on April 16, 2017 in Dayton, Wisconsin. He was intentionally run over by another driver in a pickup truck (R27:1, 2). Police observed that his motorcycle had been rear ended by a truck and subsequently dragged down the road (R40:9, 10). A short time later, at the residence of Donovan Burke, Trooper Burdick met with

Smolarek who was the registered owner of the motorcycle (R40:10). The trooper asked Smolarek some preliminary questions and inquired as to whether or not he needed medical attention, he answered in the affirmative (R40:11). Trooper Burdick did offer to give Smolarek a ride to the hospital but because of his injuries he was not able to bend his leg far enough to fit in the back of her patrol vehicle. Trooper Burdick helped Smolarek into Burke's mother's vehicle. She was in close proximity to Smolarek during this time and did not detect any odor of alcohol or marijuana on the defendant (R40:11).

Upon arriving at the hospital, despite her failing to observe any indicators of intoxication (R40:17), Trooper Burdick arrested Smolarek based on an alleged admission to smoking marijuana prior to the crash. She read Smolarek the informing the accused at 9:20PM citing an unverified admission that Smolarek was smoking marijuana (R29). However, Smolarek has contended he smoked only after the crash (R28:1) and Trooper Burdick herself could not attest to the fact that she knew Smolarek smoked marijuana before the accident (R40:18) nor did she contend that she believed Smolarek was under the influence of an intoxicant per her Alcohol Influence report taken at 10:30PM (R28:1) *See Figure 1*. The Court denied Smolarek's Motion to Suppress the Blood Draw (R40:28). The Defendant would go on to plead no contest (R47:1) and was subsequently convicted (R71:1).

| Case 2019C | T000188 Do | cument 28 | Sca | nned 02-24 | -2021 | Page | 10[2 | |
|--|---|---|---|--------------------------------------|------------------------|------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|--|
| ALCOHOL/DRUG | INFLUENCE R | | Agercy | .eee # 0000 | 47-36 | 74 | Document # | KR701L4FB3 |
| Name Di | OB 06/19/1985 Sex | , M | CILISO E06080 | _ | 38 PM | Arrest Date 04/16/2017 | Siddent Tine 09:11 PM | Inadem Cale 04/18/2017 |
| SMOLAREK , ROBIN E1681 ERICKSON RD WAUPACA, WI 54981 | DAVID | | Departe | | | | us:1) Pin | Q416,2317 |
| Same of Other Cocopanis In Ye | hkie | | Çand lid | n of Other Occu | այուն | | | |
| Davo-ha Cinthing: Type, Color, C | | | | | | | | |
| BLOOCY, JACKET, TSHIR Breath, Oldr of Alcohol Beverag NONE | • | į | Specia NO CON | CERNS | | | | |
| Signs or Complaints of liness of COMPLAINED OF ROAD R | | MULTIPLE F | ROAD RASH V | OUNDS AND | WANTEL | OT OB OT | HOSPITAL - | 7 |
| What first led you to suspect who ADMITTED TO SMOKING | | R IN THE DA | ¥Υ | | | | | _ |
| Opinions: Is the subject under t | he influence of inforcemit | 57 | is the sa VIES | bjedfe ob e ly o | obereset is to | sior vehicle im | paired? | •7 |
| Wheeler) | | .). | | | | | - le Bri | |
| Pre-Interrogetion Wenning: Behingging by the against you in count. You have a lawyer will be appointed for you. Weiver of Rights: There reed it is swyer will fine time. I undersee | thanight jo talo kula kewye without change prior to er or heve had read to one th | r before casofi 'y questioning. Ie etalement of | an'ny projiky heyn O you declae to : | i the Awyer with lari answering o | nestem a: Aradinadi | questioning. Y driss ame, you d | 'you carnot effen sen stop amitime | die lowyer and want ore, a during ine questaning. |
| Delici (14/16/2017 Time: | 92:41 | | Signatur | | | | | |
| Notes: | 26,41 | | Witness | | | | | |
| i. Were you operating a motor i | yehicie? | | | | | | | |
| YE5 2. What all set or highway were | erne nng | | | | | | | |
| RURAL RO TO K | , | | | | | | | |
| 3. Where were you going? BACK TO DONAVANS | | | | 4. Where were DONAVANS | | | | |
| 5. Whatis Fodays dete? SUNDAY APROLISTM | | | | 5 Tore? NOT SURE 6 | 20 NAYE | E BROUGH | TIN | |
| 7. When did you sleep leaf? | | | 8. How much ste | | | | e. u | trel your sernal emount? |
| THIS MORNING WOKE UP 15 Are you pader 11. For decions care? | | | 6-7 HOURS | | | | YES | <u> </u> |
| 2 Have you taken any present | ian medicatar/drugs in U | he last 24 hours | 57 | | _ | | 14 | Time of last use? |
| NO | 13. Vilhel Tyce? | | | | | | | |
| 15. Hava you boen lo a candist. NO | in the bost 24 hours? | 10. What is | net i | | | | | |
| 17. Wilse bled of deniad Generalia | kyn idithiut _e | | | | | | | ! |
| IB. Do you have GERO? 19 | | 10. Ana you taki NO | ing traulin? 21 | esi disen? | | | | |
| Z2. Ware you injured 23. Ce retaily? NO | ea-be | | | | | | | |
| 74 Din you haven any 25. On physical selects? NO | paile. | | _ | | | | | |
| | winudi? | | 26. Tune Started | ? | 29. fime | Skepped? | | · <u>-</u> |
| <u> </u> | la. 14-1 | | kirn? | | | | | |
| 30. What have you been drinkin | · | a wasa yeu dhin | v• â. | | | | | EXHIBIT |
| 52. With whom were you chink! | 9, | | | | | | | EXHIBIT |
| | | | | | | | Ž. | 24 1907188 |
| | | | | | 20.4 | | | / KILEY |

Figure 1 Alcohol Influence Report with Highlighted Sections

ARGUMENT

- I. THE ARREST FOR OPERATING UNDER THE INFLUENCE WAS CONDUCTED WITHOUT PROBABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE A LAW VIOLATION HAD OCCURRED, WAS OCCURRING, OR ABOUT TO OCCUR
 - a. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"When reviewing a mixed question of fact and law, appellate courts engage in a two-part inquiry. The first inquiry relates to the circuit court's findings of fact. Neither the court of appeals nor this court will reverse a circuit court's findings of historical or evidentiary facts unless they are clearly erroneous. The second inquiry relates to the question whether the historical or evidentiary facts satisfy the relevant constitutional standard," *State v. McMorris*, 213 Wis. 2d 156, 165, 570 N.W.2d 384, 388 (1997).

b. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RULING THERE WAS PROBABLE CAUSE FOR THE ARREST

Probable cause to arrest is limited to an officer's belief that a person was driving or operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant, *State v. Nordness*, 128 Wis. 2d 15, 34, 381 N.W.2d 300 (Wis. 1986).To determine whether probable cause exists for the arrest, the Court will look to the totality of the circumstances, or the information in the officer's possession to determine whether a reasonable officer would conclude the Defendant probably committed the offense, *State v. Babbitt*, 188 Wis. 2d 349, 525 N.W.2d 102 (Wis. Ct. App. 1994).

In this case, the officer did not observe any driving and did not corroborate any of the indicators of intoxication on the scene, traveling to the hospital, or at the hospital. Trooper Burdick does claim that Smolarek admitted he was smoking (R40:15), however nothing in the record supports that Smolarek indicated this to the Trooper before he was under arrest which according to the informing the accused was at 9:20PM, *See figure 2 below*,

| INFORMING THE A | | Witnessin Department of Transportation Police Number |
|--|--|--|
| SP4197 4/2010 s.343.305(4) Wi | is, Stats. | D00047-3674 |
| 🖟 Under Wisconsin's Implied Co | onsent Law, I am required to road | ths notice to you: |
| under the influence of alcohol an accident that caused the d | l or drugs, or both, or you are the o leath of, great bodily harm to, or el or being on duty time with respect | ng or operating a motor vehicle while operator of a vehicle that was involved in ubstantial bodily harm to a person, or to a commercial motor vehicle after |
| determine the concentration of system than the lew permits was lake any test that this agency | of alcohol or drugs in your system. while driving, your operating privile requests, your operating privilege | mbles of your breath, blood or unine to if any test shows more alcohol in your ge w.ll be suspended. If you refuse to will be revoked and you will be subject asking can be used against you in court. |
| test that this law enforcement | | er tests. You may take the alternative You also may have a test conducted by a will have to make your own |
| | or license or were operating a com m positive test results or from refus | mercial motor vehicle, other sing testing, such as being placed out of |
| In addition, your operating pri controlled substance is in you | ivileges will also be suspended if a # blood. | |
| Will you submit to an evidentlary | chemical test of your BLOOD | ? YES |
| I certify that I have read the above | ve information to SMOLAREK , RC | DBIN DAVID |
| who has been arrested for a viola | ation of 346.63(1)(A) OPERATING Y | WHILE UNDER THE INFLUENCE(3RD) |
| and have provided him/her a cop | by of this form. Ha/She was identified | by OTHER . |
| E 66 0 30 3 - 1 | 4//0 | //7 Z120 A/S a.m./p.m. |
| WI STATE PATROL NORAWSA | x Tps. | BURDICK CONTINUATED STREET |
| | | EXHIBIT |

Figure 2, Exhibit 3- Informing the Accused with Highlighted sections

Smolarek does admit to smoking after the crash, however, his official

statement wasn't taken until almost two hours after the informing the accused was read (R27:1). *See figure 3 below*.