Brief of Respondent

Filed 04-25-2022

Page 1 of 10

FILED 04-25-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT IV

Case No, 2021AP002054 Court Case No. 2019CT000188

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

ROBIN D. SMOLAREK,

Defendant-Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUPACA COUNTY THE HONORABLE TROY L. NIELSEN, PRESIDING

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Kat R. Turner Assistant District Attorney State Bar ID: 1084328

811 Harding Street Waupaca, WI 54981 (715) 258-6444 Kat.Turner@da.wi.gov

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

Brief of Respondent

##

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Did the trial court err in denying the defendant's motion to suppress?

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The State is not requesting oral argument in this case. Rather, the State believes that the issue can be presented and addressed adequately in written argument.

#### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The State does not request publication. This case can be resolved by applying well-established legal principles to the facts of the case.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As the plaintiff-respondent, the State exercises its option not to present a full statement of the case. Wis. Stat. § 809.19(3)(a)(2). Facts additional to those presented in Appellant's brief will be set forth where necessary within the argument section.

#### ARGUMENT

II. BASED ON THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES TROOPER BURDICK HAD PROBABLE CAUSE TO ARREST THE DEFENDANT FOR OPERATING A MOTOR VEHICLE WITH A RESTRICTED CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE IN HIS BLOOD.

On Sunday, April 16th, 2017 Trooper Sarah Burdick, of the Wisconsin State Patrol, responded to a pickup truck versus motorcycle crash where the truck was reported to have dragged the motorcycle down the roadway. Trooper Burdick made

Case 2021AP002054 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-25-2022 Page 5 of 10

contact with the driver of the motorcycle and arranged to meet him at the hospital to take a statement and investigate the crash. While investigating the crash, the driver (Robin Smolarek, the defendant-appellant) admitted to Trooper Burdick that he had smoked marijuana prior to the crash. Charges of OWI 3<sup>rd</sup> were referred and the defendant-appellant remained in the hospital for treatment of his injuries.

While at the hospital with Smolarek, Trooper Burdick spoke with Smolarek about the crash and events leading up to the crash as part of her crash investigation. Smolarek admitted to Trooper Burdick that he had been smoking marijuana prior to the crash. After this admission, Trooper Burdick read Smolarek the informing the accused and completed the Alcohol/Drug Influence Report. At this point, Smolarek, having been advised that he was suspected of having committed a crime, changed his version of the time of events and stated that he had only used marijuana after the crash. Smolarek then consented to an evidentiary chemical test of his blood.

Trooper Burdick noted in her narrative report that "While I cannot know if Smolarek did in fact smoke marijuana and take a shower immediately after the crash, I have reason to believe that he did neither of those activities. The marijuana smoking after the crash only came up after Smolarek was advised of how the blood test worked. This is odd because before being told he was being charged with OWI, he had stated he did nothing but wait for an officer. Smolarek was also wearing bloody ripped clothing when I arrived. His hair was not visibly wet either, making it hard to believe that he showered recently." (App.149 Para.2)

Smolarek moved the Circuit Court for an order suppressing the blood test evidence, which was denied by the Court. This appeal of the decision not to suppress the blood test evidence follows a plea of no contest entered by Smolarek to operating with a detectible amount of restricted controlled substance.

The question of probable cause must be assessed on a case-by-case basis, looking at the totality of the circumstances. Probable cause is a "flexible, commonsense measure of the plausibility of particular conclusions about human behavior." In determining whether there is probable cause, the court applies an objective standard, considering the information available to the officer and the officer's training and experience. State v. Lange, 2009 WI 49, ¶ 20, 317 Wis. 2d 383, 392–93, 766 N.W.2d 551, 555.

In looking at the totality of circumstances in this case, Trooper Burdick had been employed as a Law Enforcement Officer with the State Patrol for over one year at the time of the crash underlying the charges in this case. She further indicated that one of her duties as a Patrol Officer is to investigate motor vehicle crashes and drunk-driving offenses. (App.104 Ln. 15-25, 105 Ln.7-19). Her involvement in the case at bar was to investigate the crash in which Smolarek had been involved, causing him to be injured. During the course of her investigation, Trooper Burdick asked questions to inform her investigation of the crash. Some of those questions related to whether there was any intoxicant that had been consumed by Smolarek, one of the drivers. (App.106 Ln.17-24)

Smolarek asserts on this appeal that there was insufficient basis for probable cause, and attempts to direct the Court's attention to the statements made after Smolarek was under arrest. However, the defendant-appellant conceded, at the plea and sentencing hearing nine months after the motion to suppress was heard, that there was a recording that was provided as part of discovery, which captured Smolarek admitting to smoking marijuana before the accident, and states that the fact that this recording would be presented by the State at trial was the basis for the plea of no-contest entered. (App.140 Ln. 23-25, 141 Ln. 1-2).

The Court correctly determined that "[o]bviously, the initial contact that Trooper Burdick had with this defendant was as a part of an accident investigation and through the course of that investigation, Mr. Smolarek, as I understand the testimony, admitted to smoking marijuana earlier in the day; thus prior to the operation of the motorcycle...through the course of the investigation...that statement changed for Mr. Smolarek. Obviously, I don't know what is or isn't true and, the reality is, a finder of fact at trial can discern that." (App.127 Ln.14-24). Due to Smolarek's having "...unequivocally admitted to driving a motorcycle who sounds like at one point admitted to consuming THC earlier in the day. That is enough for an arrest and blood draw..." (App.128 Ln.11-15).

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the record in this case, this Court should find that the Circuit Court did not err when denying the Defendant's motion to suppress. It is clear based on the totality of the circumstances that Trooper Burdick had probable cause to arrest the Defendant for Operating a Motor Vehicle with a detectable amount a restricted controlled substance in his system, and to perform an evidentiary test of his blood.